THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001415
Case No. 2018-CP-23-05985

RECEIVED
JAN 08 2020
SC Court of Appeals

W. Clark Jernigan, M.D.Respondent,

v.

St. Francis Physician Services, Inc.Appellant.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Matthew B. Roberts, SC Bar No. 8856
mroberts@nexsenpruet.com
Nikole Setzler Mergo, SC Bar No. 68010
nmergo@nexsenpruet.com
Ashley Robertson Parr, SC Bar No. 101346
aparr@nexsenpruet.com
NEXSEN PRUET, LLC
1230 Main Street, Suite 700 (29201)
Post Office Drawer 2426
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
Telephone: (803) 771-8900

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the circuit court erred in holding that Dr. Jernigan's Employment Agreement unambiguously prohibited St. Francis from implementing a policy modifying the way St. Francis calculates work relative value units ("wRVUs") for purposes of calculating physicians' productivity compensation.
2. Whether the circuit court erred in holding that St. Francis's affirmative defenses failed to preclude summary judgment in favor of Dr. Jernigan.
3. Whether the circuit court erred in holding that Productivity Compensation that is not due to Dr. Jernigan constitutes "wages" for purposes of the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act.
4. Whether summary judgment was premature because additional discovery was necessary.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a contract dispute between a physician, Respondent W. Clark Jernigan, M.D. (“Dr. Jernigan”), and his employer, Appellant St. Francis Physician Services, Inc. (“St. Francis”). St. Francis appeals an order of the circuit court granting Dr. Jernigan’s motion for partial summary judgment as to two discrete issues. First, the circuit court ruled that Dr. Jernigan’s Employment Agreement prohibits St. Francis from applying modifiers to the CPT codes¹ used to determine the work relative value units (“wRVUs”) attributable to Dr. Jernigan for his services. wRVUs are one component of the formula used to determine the amount of productivity compensation Dr. Jernigan may earn above his base salary. Second, the circuit court ruled that productivity compensation Dr. Jernigan alleges he would have earned, if St. Francis had not reduced his wRVUs by applying the modifiers, constitutes “wages” under the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act.

I. Statement of Facts

A. The Employment Agreement

Dr. Jernigan is an orthopedic surgeon.² He has been employed by St. Francis since 2006, when he executed the Employment Agreement that is the subject of the parties’ dispute. (R. p. ___ (Employment Agreement).) The Employment Agreement includes various terms

¹ “CPT” stands for Common Procedural Terminology. CPT codes are four-digit numeric codes that identify the particular services performed by a physician. Modifiers are two-digit codes that are appended to the CPT code in certain circumstances to provide more detailed information about the service provided. For example, the CPT code for “application of an external fixator performed with a uniplane” is 20690. If a physician assisted with this procedure, an appropriate modifier (*e.g.*, modifier -80) would be appended to indicate the less intensive work of assisting with, rather than performing, the surgery. The resulting CPT code would be 20690-80, and the wRVU attributable to the assisting physician would be based on the modified CPT code.

² The facts and all reasonable inferences therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to St. Francis, the non-movant on summary judgment. *Wright v. PRG Real Estate Mgmt., Inc.*, 426 S.C. 202, 211, 826 S.E.2d 285, 290 (2019).

and conditions of Dr. Jernigan's employment, including multiple provisions setting forth his obligations as a St. Francis employee. In particular, the Employment Agreement requires Dr. Jernigan to comply with St. Francis's policies, bylaws, rules, and regulations (§ 2.8); its billing practices (§ 2.5); and all statutes, regulations, and rules pertaining to payors, including Medicare, and St. Francis's coding compliance plan (§§ 2.4.4, 2.9). (R. pp. ____.)

Under the Employment Agreement, Dr. Jernigan receives a base salary. He is eligible for additional payment in the form of "Productivity Compensation," based on his personal productivity, and "Bonus Compensation," based partly on the overall financial performance of his practice group. (R. pp. ____ (Employment Agreement, at 23-25).) Only Productivity Compensation is at issue in this appeal. Productivity Compensation is determined according to a formula in which the wRVUs attributable to services personally performed by Dr. Jernigan each month are multiplied by a conversion factor (which is confidential) stated in dollars, and then Dr. Jernigan's monthly base pay is subtracted:

$$\begin{aligned} & \text{Monthly (WRVU's } \times \text{ Conversion Factor) - Monthly Base Compensation} \\ & = \text{Productivity Compensation, if positive}^3 \end{aligned}$$

(R. p. __ (Employment Agreement, at 23).)

The Employment Agreement includes "Definitions and Notes" that provide additional information regarding physician compensation. Note 1 provides:

Work Relative Value Units (WRVU'S) are updated in the billing practice management software each year according to the schedule published each year by CMS in the Federal Register. The WRVU measures the relative time and effort (work) a physician will expend with each procedure. The WRVU's reflect the increased level of work

³ If the result is negative, the deficit is carried forward and used to offset Productivity Compensation earned, if any, in future months. (R. p. __ (Employment Agreement, at 23).)

performed by the physician as the level of complexity of procedures increases.

(R. p. __ (Employment Agreement, at 26).)

B. Implementation of the Modifier Policy

St. Francis regularly makes policy changes that affect its physician employees, and for which physician consent is not required. (R. p. __ (Affidavit of Bill Gay (“Gay Aff.”) ¶ 3).) In 2016, after evaluating the market and industry practices, St. Francis made such a policy change, providing for application of modifiers to physician wRVUs (the “Modifier Policy”). (R. p. __ (Gay Aff. ¶ 4).) St. Francis made the business decision to adopt the Modifier Policy for a variety of reasons, including current industry practices. (R. p. __ (Gay Aff. ¶ 5).) Additionally, certain physician compensation surveys, such as those produced by the Medical Group Management Association (“MGMA”); use modifier-adjusted wRVUs. (*Id.*) Implementation of the Modifier Policy further integrated the measurement of physician productivity with the way payors such as Medicare, Medicaid, and private insurance companies pay for physicians’ services. (R. p. __ (Gay Aff. ¶ 6).)

St. Francis notified Dr. Jernigan and other physician employees of the Modifier Policy well in advance of its effective date on September 1, 2016. (R. p. __ (Gay Aff. ¶¶ 8-10).) For example, Dr. Thomas Baumgarten, a physician who held an administrative role as leader of Dr. Jernigan’s practice group, conveyed information about the Modifier Policy, including the reasons for its implementation, to Dr. Jernigan. (R. p. __ (Gay Aff. ¶ 8).) The exhibits to Dr. Jernigan’s affidavit in support of summary judgment (“Jernigan Aff.”) included a memorandum about the Modifier Policy dated April 14, 2016 and minutes of a meeting in July 2016 that included a discussion of the Modifier Policy. (R. p. __ (Jernigan Aff., Exs. E, F).)

The Modifier Policy was implemented on September 1, 2016. Dr. Jernigan did not individually protest or object to the Modifier Policy prior to or at the time of its implementation.⁴ (R. p. ___ (Gay Aff. ¶ 12).) Following implementation of the Modifier Policy, he has continued his employment with St. Francis and has been paid productivity compensation calculated in accordance with the Modifier Policy. (R. p. ___ (Gay Aff. ¶ 11).) Indeed, Dr. Jernigan raised no individual objection to the Modifier Policy until mid-2017, when he retained counsel, who communicated with St. Francis regarding the Modifier Policy. (R. p. ___ (Gay Aff. ¶ 12).)

II. Procedural History

A. Complaint and Motion for Partial Summary Judgment

Dr. Jernigan filed his complaint on November 28, 2018, alleging three causes of action: (1) breach of contract; (2) violation of the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act (“Wage Act”), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 41-10-10, *et seq.*; and (3) declaratory judgment. (R. p. ___ (Complaint ¶¶ 33-54).) As relevant to this appeal, Dr. Jernigan alleged that St. Francis breached the Employment Agreement by “reduc[ing] the number of WRVU’s attributable to Dr. Jernigan by applying Payment Modifiers.” (R. p. ___ (Complaint ¶¶ 24(a), 34-38).) Dr. Jernigan also alleged that St. Francis violated the Wage Act by paying him less than the full amount of Productivity Compensation he was entitled to under the Employment Agreement. (R. p. ___ (Complaint ¶¶ 40-45).) St. Francis denied the allegations and asserted numerous affirmative defenses, including waiver, estoppel, acquiescence, and proper notification under

⁴ In his affidavit submitted in support of his Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Dr. Jernigan states that he “never agreed” to the Modifier Policy. (R. p. ___ (Jernigan Aff. ¶ 16).) Not agreeing with something is not the same as objecting to it. As the non-movant on summary judgment, St. Francis is entitled to the inference that Dr. Jernigan voiced no opposition to the Modifier Policy at the time of its adoption.

the Wage Act. (R. p. ___ (Answer ¶¶ 55-61).)

Before discovery had meaningfully developed, Dr. Jernigan moved for partial summary judgment on three issues:

1. That his employment agreement with St. Francis does not permit St. Francis to reduce the number of his [wRVUs] for purposes of calculating his compensation by applying payment modifiers;
2. That the compensation due Dr. Jernigan from St. Francis under his employment agreement is considered “wages” for purposes of the [Wage Act]; and
3. That St. Francis owes Dr. Jernigan any compensation that he would have otherwise received had St. Francis not applied payment modifiers to reduce his [wRVUs].

(R. p. ___ (MSJ Order, at 1-2).)

B. Circuit Court Orders

Following briefing and a hearing, the circuit court entered a written Order on July 15, 2019, granting in part and denying in part Dr. Jernigan’s motion for partial summary judgment. The court granted summary judgment on the first two issues but denied summary judgment as to the third. (R. pp. ___ (MSJ Order).) The court ruled that the Employment Agreement is unambiguous and that it “does not permit St. Francis to apply payment modifiers to [Dr. Jernigan’s] actual WRVUs.” (R. p. ___ (MSJ Order, at 12).) The court further ruled that “any compensation due Dr. Jernigan under the agreement qualifies as ‘wages’ for purposes of the [Wage Act].” (R. p. ___ (MSJ Order, at 12).) The court denied summary judgment on the third issue, reasoning that “the potential for factual issues as to whether money is actually due and owing by St. Francis to Dr. Jernigan requires that, at least on the limited record before the Court at this time, this issue be left to the trier of fact.” (*Id.*) The circuit court rejected St. Francis’s arguments that its equitable defenses of waiver, estoppel, and acquiescence presented genuine issues of material fact that precluded summary judgment and summary judgment was

premature because additional discovery was needed. (R. pp. ___ (MSJ Order, at 9-10).)

St. Francis timely moved for reconsideration on July 25, 2019. (R. p. ___ (Motion for Reconsideration).) The circuit court denied reconsideration on August 7, 2019. (R. p. ___ (Reh'g Order).) St. Francis timely filed and served its Notice of Appeal on August 23, 2019. (R. p. ___ (NOA).) On September 13, 2019, Dr. Jernigan moved to dismiss the appeal. (R. p. ___ (Mot. to Dismiss Appeal).) This Court denied the motion on November 7, 2019. (R. p. ___ (11/7/19 Order).)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in granting the motion for partial summary judgment, inasmuch as multiple genuine issues of fact exist which preclude summary judgment, the circuit court's order contains errors of law, and summary judgment was premature.

At the least, the ambiguity of the Employment Agreement should have precluded summary judgment on the question of St. Francis's contractual right to apply modifiers to the wRVUs attributed to Dr. Jernigan. To begin, the Employment Agreement indisputably does not prohibit application of modifiers but rather is silent as to how wRVUs are to be calculated. Under South Carolina law, this silence indicates ambiguity, not prohibition. Moreover, what the Employment Agreement does say about wRVUs suggests that application of modifiers is permitted. In view of the Employment Agreement's ambiguity, summary judgment was improper.

Aside from this, there are genuine issues of fact as to the timing of Dr. Jernigan's knowledge of St. Francis's implementation of the relevant policy, implied acceptance thereof, and waiver and/or estoppel of Dr. Jernigan's claims, thereby precluding summary judgment on St. Francis's affirmative defenses. Further, no additional wages were "due" to Dr. Jernigan under the Wage Act, and St. Francis provided more than sufficient advance written notice of the Modifier Policy, thereby precluding his Wage Act claim. Finally, the circuit court granted summary judgment prematurely because when Dr. Jernigan filed his motion for partial summary judgment, St. Francis had not had a full and fair opportunity to conduct discovery.

Dr. Jernigan's interpretation of the Employment Agreement ignores both the general realities of the complex and ever-changing healthcare industry in which St. Francis compensates him, as well as the specific flexibility written into the Employment Agreement itself, the latter of which expressly permits policy changes like the Modifier Policy. In other

words, the Employment Agreement cannot be read in a vacuum. *See Holden v. Alice Mfg., Inc.*, 317 S.C. 215, 221, 452 S.E.2d 628, 631 (Ct. App. 1994) (“[I]n determining the intent and purport of a contract, the court should not look solely to one clause read in isolation from the rest of the document; rather, it should consider the contents of the whole instrument.”). Health care providers must monitor changes and trends in the industry, including *inter alia*, as to how certain medical procedures are to be coded and how payors, like Medicare, Medicaid and private insurance companies, will pay for these procedures. Because of the complexity of the industry, medical groups like St. Francis must continually re-evaluate their practices, develop new policies, and revise existing policies to improve clinical and financial performance. The flexibility required to do all of these things is built into the Employment Agreement, including because it contains numerous examples whereby Dr. Jernigan agrees to comply with St. Francis’s policies and procedures.

For these reasons and the reasons discussed more fully below, St. Francis respectfully requests that the Court reverse the circuit court’s order granting partial summary judgment to Dr. Jernigan.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, this Court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC. *See Epstein v. Coastal Timber Co.*, 393 S.C. 276, 281, 711 S.E.2d 912, 915 (2011). Summary judgment is proper only when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRPC. When determining whether triable issues of fact exist, this Court “must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *David v. McLeod Reg’l Med. Ctr.*, 367 S.C. 242, 247, 626 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2006). The party seeking summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. *Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc.*, 365 S.C. 204, 220, 616 S.E.2d 722, 730 (Ct. App. 2005).

Because summary judgment is a “drastic remedy,” it “should be cautiously invoked so that a litigant will not be improperly deprived of trial on disputed factual issues.” *Conner v. City of Forest Acres*, 348 S.C. 454, 462, 560 S.E.2d 606, 610 (2002). “Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts if there is dispute as to the conclusions to be drawn from those facts.” *Piedmont Eng’rs, Architects & Planners, Inc. v. First Hartford Realty Corp.*, 278 S.C. 195, 196, 293 S.E.2d 706, 707 (1982).

When a motion for summary judgment presents a question as to the construction of a written contract, and the contract is ambiguous, summary judgment is improper. *See Gilliland v. Elmwood Props.*, 301 S.C. 295, 299, 391 S.E.2d 577, 579 (1990); *see also HK New Plan Exch. Prop. Owner I, LLC v. Coker*, 375 S.C. 18, 23, 649 S.E.2d 181, 184 (Ct. App. 2007) (“[S]ummary judgment is improper where the motion presents a question as to the construction of a written contract, and the contract is ambiguous because the intent of the parties cannot be

gathered from the four corners of the instrument.”).

II. The Circuit Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment on the Breach of Contract Claim Because the Employment Agreement Does Not Unambiguously Prohibit Application of the Modifier Policy

Dr. Jernigan and St. Francis dispute whether the Employment Agreement permits the application of modifiers in the calculation of wRVUs, as required by the Modifier Policy. Dr. Jernigan argues that it does not, and points to language in the Employment Agreement that he views as supporting his position. St. Francis argues that the Employment Agreement *does* permit application of modifiers, and it also points to language in the Employment Agreement that supports its position. Fortunately, “[t]his Court need not decide that it favors [Dr. Jernigan’s] or [St. Francis’s] view of the contractual provision at this juncture; [it] need only opine on whether the provision is ambiguous.” *Gilliland*, 301 S.C. at 299, 391 S.E.2d at 579.

“Once a contract is before the court for interpretation, the main concern of the court is to give effect to the intention of the parties.” *Columbia East Assocs. v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 299 S.C. 515, 519, 386 S.E.2d 259, 261 (Ct. App. 1989). “[W]here the language of . . . the agreement is ambiguous, summary judgment is improper because the intent of the parties would then be a genuine issue of fact.” *Lyles v. BMI, Inc.*, 292 S.C. 153, 157, 355 S.E.2d 282, 284 (Ct. App. 1987). Whether a contract is ambiguous is a question of law for the court. *See S.C. Dep’t of Natural Res. v. Town of McClellanville*, 345 S.C. 617, 623, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302–03 (2001). Ambiguity “is to be determined from the entire contract and not from isolated portions.” *Farr v. Duke Power Co.*, 265 S.C. 356, 362, 218 S.E.2d 431, 433 (1975). “An ambiguous contract is one capable of being understood in more senses than one, an agreement obscure in meaning, through indefiniteness of expression, or having a double meaning.” *Bruce v. Blalock*, 241 S.C. 155, 160, 127 S.E.2d 439, 441 (1962); *see Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down’Round Dev. Corp.*, 268 S.C. 80, 89, 232 S.E.2d 20, 25 (1977) (holding that a contract is ambiguous when

it is capable of being understood in more than one way or its meaning is unclear because its terms are indefinite).

A. The Employment Agreement's silence as to the application of payment modifiers creates ambiguity precluding summary judgment.

To affirm summary judgment on the breach of contract claim, this Court must conclude, *de novo*, that the plain and unambiguous language of the Employment Agreement prohibits application of the Modifier Policy. *See Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc. v. Dennis*, 425 S.C. 193, 198, 821 S.E.2d 667, 669 (2018). However, there is *no* language in the Employment Agreement that expressly prohibits St. Francis's application of the Modifier Policy. Indeed, Dr. Jernigan, St. Francis, and the circuit court all agree that Employment Agreement, on its face, is *silent* as to the application of modifiers to wRVUs. (R. p. ___ (Complaint ¶ 26); R. pp. ___ (MSJ Order, at 6, 9).) The circuit court wrongly construed the Employment Agreement's silence as *ipso facto* proof that it *prohibits* application of modifiers. (R. pp. ___ (MSJ Order, at 6-7).).

An agreement's silence often indicates ambiguity. *See Columbia East Assocs.*, 299 S.C. at 519-20, 386 S.E.2d at 261-62 (“[W]here a contract is silent as to a particular matter, and ambiguity thereby arises, parol evidence may be admitted to supply the deficiency and establish the true intent.”); *see also Frewil, LLC v. Price*, 411 S.C. 525, 531, 769 S.E.2d 250, 253 (Ct. App. 2015) (finding ambiguity existed where an agreement did not “explicitly” state which appliances were included in a rental unit).

The proposition that silence indicates ambiguity is confirmed by a case the circuit court itself cited. (R. p. ___ (MSJ Order, at 6) (citing *Coker*, 375 S.C. at 24, 649 S.E.2d at 184).) The question in *Coker* was whether an amendment to a lease released the original tenant, Bradley Coker, from the lease. Similar to the circuit court's ruling in this case, the trial court in *Coker*

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