THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jun 29 2020

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001415
Case No. 2018-CP-23-05985

W. Clark Jernigan, M.D. Respondent,

v.

St. Francis Physician Services, Inc.Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Henry L. Parr, Jr., SC Bar No. 4340
hparr@wyche.com
Wade S. Kolb III, SC Bar No. 100379
wkolb@wyche.com
James E. Cox, Jr., SC Bar No. 103886
jcox@wyche.com

WYCHE, PA
200 East Camperdown Way
Greenville, SC 29602-0728
Telephone: (864) 242-8200
Facsimile: (864) 235-8900

Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

An employer should not be free to change, at its whim, a core provision of a long-term contract such as employee compensation. That is what occurred here.

Dr. Jernigan and St. Francis executed a multi-year contract, with clear and unambiguous provisions specifying that Dr. Jernigan's productivity pay and bonus pay would be calculated using WRVU values. The contract said where those values were to be found, and for ten years, St. Francis calculated Dr. Jernigan's salary based on his actual WRVUs. But in 2016, St. Francis began applying "payment modifiers" to reduce Dr. Jernigan's WRVUs and his salary. A foreign concept from outside the Agreement, payment modifiers were not new to the healthcare world, but they were new to St. Francis's compensation plans and its agreements with its physicians, including Dr. Jernigan.

St. Francis now argues that because the Agreement does not reference "payment modifiers" or expressly prohibit them, they must be allowed.

mention CPT codes, nor, for that matter, did St. Francis's briefing below. CPT codes are numeric codes developed by the American Medical Association and associated with healthcare providers' billing and reimbursement practices. *See* Exhibits C and D to Dr. Jernigan's Affidavit (R. pp. 89-92) (noting that "CPT codes and descriptions only are copyright" of the AMA). The circuit court made no ruling regarding how St. Francis might use "payment modifiers" in connection with calculating the amount it might be paid by the federal government for any particular procedure indicated by a CPT code.

There is nothing unclear in the compensation provisions of Dr. Jernigan's Agreement, and the language in the four corners of that Agreement squarely does not permit application of payment modifiers. Accepting St. Francis's "silence" argument would undermine basic contract principles. It would prevent employers and employees from relying on simple, specific compensation formulas. Rather than simply stating the compensation formula, under St. Francis's approach, parties wishing to rely on a specific compensation formula would have to add extra language specifically stating that no other factors may be applied to alter the formula or specially excluding every imaginable factor that might be used to alter the formula. That is not the law.

This Court should affirm the judgment of the circuit court and hold the Agreement means what it says: St. Francis may not alter the compensation formula by applying payment modifiers. A necessary corollary of that holding is that any compensation that may be owed Dr. Jernigan is "wages" as that term is broadly defined under the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act. Neither of these narrow holdings on partial summary judgment requires consideration of St. Francis's affirmative defenses, whether meritorious or not, nor do they benefit from discovery, which is irrelevant to these questions of law.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court utilizes the same standard of review as the trial court to review the grant of summary judgment. *Knight v. Austin*, 396 S.C. 518, 521, 722 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2012). "Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue

as to any material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law.” *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002).

South Carolina Rule 56 allows a plaintiff to bring a motion for partial summary judgment to streamline the issues in a case. S.C. R. Civ. P. 56(d). “The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite the disposition of cases not requiring the services of a fact finder.” *Watson v. Underwood*, 407 S.C. 443, 453, 756 S.E.2d 155, 160 (Ct. App. 2014).

Summary judgment is a particularly appropriate tool when it comes to contract cases because “[i]t is a question of law for the court whether the language of a contract is ambiguous.” *Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc. v. Dennis*, 425 S.C. 193, 198, 821 S.E.2d 667, 669 (2018) (quoting *S.C. Dep’t of Nat. Res. v. Town of McClellanville*, 345 S.C. 617, 623, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302-03 (2001)). “[S]ummary judgment is proper and a trial unnecessary where the intention of the parties as to the legal effect of the contract may be gathered from the four corners of the instrument itself.” *First-Citizens Bank & Tr. Co. v. Conway Nat. Bank*, 282 S.C. 303, 305, 317 S.E.2d 776, 777 (Ct. App. 1984).

In addition, “[b]ecause the ambiguity of contracts and statutes are questions of law, [this Court does] not view the evidence in any particular light.” *Callawassie Island*, 425 S.C. at 198, 821 S.E.2d at 669. This particular principle of blackletter law squarely refutes St. Francis’s repeated and mistaken assertion that the Employment Agreement and all reasonable inferences must be construed in the light most favorable to it. (*See e.g.*, App. Br. at 2 n.2, 10, 13)

ARGUMENT

This Court should uphold the judgment of the circuit court. The Employment Agreement is clear and unambiguous, and it does not permit application of payment modifiers to reduce Dr. Jernigan's compensation. St. Francis's arguments to the contrary strain credulity, and are a desperate attempt to justify a unilateral decision to alter the compensation terms of the Employment Agreement ten years into the Agreement's performance.

I. The Employment Agreement Is Unambiguous and Must Be Enforced As It Is Written.

There is no ambiguity in the Employment Agreement, and it consequently must be enforced as written. The Agreement spells out in clear terms how Dr. Jernigan's productivity pay is calculated: "Any Productivity Compensation Physician receives shall be calculated . . . on the basis of actual Work Relative Value Units (WRVU's) attributable to services personally performed by Physician each month multiplied by the appropriate conversion factor and subtracting from the product thereof the monthly Base Compensation paid to Physician." (R. p. 271) That language does not include the application of payment modifiers in the compensation determination.

The formula that follows is similarly clear: "Monthly (WRVU's x Conversion Factor) – Monthly Base Compensation = Productivity Compensation, if positive." (R. p. 271) That formula likewise does not include payment modifiers in the compensation determination. Nor does the formula for calculating bonus pay: "(Physician WRVUs / Total WRVUs of Medical Practice) x Bonus Compensation

Pool.” (R. p. 272) In other words, the concept of payment modifiers is not part of the determination of Dr. Jernigan’s productivity pay or bonus pay. In fact, the phrase “payment modifiers” *does not appear anywhere in the Employment Agreement at all*. The net of this is that the Agreement lacks any ambiguity as to the permissibility of applying payment modifiers. They are an entirely foreign concept to the Employment Agreement.

St. Francis seeks to revise the compensation formulas to include payment modifiers. Rather than calculating Dr. Jernigan’s productivity compensation according to the stated formula:

$$\text{Monthly (WRVU's x Conversion Factor) – Monthly Base Compensation} \\ = \text{Productivity Compensation, if positive}$$

(R. p. 271) St. Francis would insert another factor, payment modifiers, making the formula as follows, including the new term indicated in boldface:

$$\text{Monthly ((WRVU's – less Payment Modifier reduction) x Conversion Factor) –} \\ \text{Monthly Base Compensation} = \text{Productivity Compensation, if positive}$$

Similarly, rather than following the stated formula for bonus compensation which is:

$$\text{Physician WRVU's / Total WRVU's of Medical Practice) x Bonus} \\ \text{Compensation Pool}$$

(R. p. 272) St. Francis would insert another factor, payment modifiers, making the formula as follows, including the new terms indicated in boldface:

$$\text{(Physician WRVU's – less Payment Modifier reduction) / (Total WRVU's of} \\ \text{Medical Practice – less Payment Modifier reduction) x Bonus Compensation} \\ \text{Pool}$$

But St. Francis is not free to unilaterally revise key provisions of Dr. Jernigan's long-term Employment Agreement in this way.

"Where an agreement is clear on its face and unambiguous, the court's only function is to interpret its lawful meaning and the intent of the parties as found within the agreement." *Miles v. Miles*, 393 S.C. 111, 117, 711 S.E.2d 880, 883 (2011) (quotation omitted).

Confronting the clarity of the Agreement's language and recognizing the utter absence of any reference to payment modifiers, St. Francis is left to make the astonishing argument that the Agreement is nevertheless ambiguous because it is "silent" as to the application of payment modifiers and at any rate does not "expressly prohibit" their application. (App. Br. at 12-13) That is absurd.

The Agreement is not "silent." The parties stated in the Agreement how productivity and bonus pay would be calculated. They reiterated this in formulas. Those formulas included WRVUs, and made clear the WRVU values were to be taken from schedules published by CMS.⁷ The parties were not further required to include a vast list of prohibitions saying what they could *not* do to calculate productivity and bonus pay.

⁷ All of which undermines St. Francis's bizarre suggestion, relegated to a footnote, that it did not "change the formula" for calculating productivity pay, rather it only "change[d] how one of the inputs into the formula – wRVUs – is calculated." (App. Br. at 19 n.6) First of all, St. Francis is just playing with language; changing an input to a formula is the same as changing a formula. Second, neither the language of the Agreement nor the formulas set out in the Agreement provide for any process of "modification" or calculation of WRVUs beyond simply totaling the number of actual WRVUs attributable to Dr. Jernigan in a given month or year.

Under St. Francis's reasoning, to avoid ambiguity, any positive statement of obligations in a contract would have to be accompanied by a corresponding parade of prohibitions. That cannot be correct. In this situation it is enough to say "thou shalt" without needing to add "thou shalt not."

The cases St. Francis cites are, unsurprisingly, unavailing. In *Columbia East Associates v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 299 S.C. 515, 386 S.E.2d 259 (Ct. App. 1989), for example, this Court was not dealing with a clear and specific formula, like the one involved here. Instead, the Court confronted the question of whether the parties to a commercial lease intended to allow the anchor tenant in a shopping center, Bi-Lo, to vacate its premises and leave them empty so long as it continued to pay rent. The two other tenants in the shopping center had entered leases "which made specific provisions regarding the operation of Bi-Lo in the center," given that Bi-Lo was located "in the center of the parking lot and in the center of the traffic flow." *Id.* at 517-18, 386 S.E.2d at 260-61. In addition, Bi-Lo's relocation to an "adjacent shopping center" and determination to keep its old space free of another grocery store was designed in part to eliminate Bi-Lo's competition.

Of the lease in question this Court observed, "While certain terms . . . are consistent with the proposition that the parties contemplated an operating supermarket, no provision either expressly requires Bi-Lo to assure continuous operation or permits it to vacate and leave the store empty." 299 S.C. at 520, 386 S.E.2d at 262. Recognizing that "it would be virtually impossible for a contract to encompass all of the many possibilities which may be encountered by the parties" in

the good faith performance of a lease, this Court held that when a question of intent “is left unaddressed,” the court could look to extrinsic evidence, and the law would “imply an agreement to do those things that according to reason and justice should be done to carry out the purpose for which the contract was made.” *Id.* at 520-21, 386 S.E.2d at 262. In other words, in *Columbia East*, this Court determined that while there was neither an express “thou shalt” nor a “thou shalt not,” all the facts and evidence demonstrated the parties’ intent was “that an operating supermarket would occupy the leased space.” *Id.* at 521, 386 S.E.2d at 262.

HK New Plan Exchange Property Owner I, LLC v. Coker, 375 S.C. 18, 649 S.E.2d 181 (Ct. App. 2007), likewise does not fit. There the question was whether a son who signed a commercial lease along with his father was subsequently released from that lease when an amendment that included only his father was executed. This Court found ambiguity existed under the circumstances in *HK New Plan* because the amendment listed only the father as the tenant, referred to the father as the “successor in interest” of the son, and contained a signature line for only the father. 375 S.C. at 24, 649 S.E.2d at 184. There was also a related dispute over when the amendment even became effective. *Id.*, 649 S.E.2d at 184. In other words, the mere absence from the amendment of express language releasing the son was *not* the only reason this Court found an ambiguity.

St. Francis does not present a case with anything like the facts of this case. The absence of any express prohibition on the use of payment modifiers cannot be construed, as St. Francis would have it, as a vast opening for the introduction of an

entirely novel concept to the Agreement, and one moreover that contradicts the clear language of the Agreement and the clear formulas about how pay is calculated. *See Callawassie Island*, 425 S.C. at 200, 821 S.E.2d at 670 (reversing Court of Appeals and holding that summary judgment was appropriate when contract language was “unambiguous[]” and not “contradict[ed]” by any other contractual provisions).

St. Francis makes a second wrongheaded argument, (App. Br. at 14-15), proposing that because the Employment Agreement references CMS schedules in “Definition/Note 1” of the Agreement, that reference must incorporate payment modifiers, which also appear in those schedules along with WRVU values (and numerous other values for that matter). That too is absurd.

First, the Agreement’s reference to CMS schedules is *solely* with respect to identifying where WRVU values are to be found. The Agreement says nothing about incorporating any and all information that happens to be published alongside WRVU values in the schedules. *See* Employment Agreement at 22 n.1 (R. p. 274) (stating that “Work Relative Value Unites (WRVU’s) are updated . . . each year according to the schedule published each year by CMS in the Federal Register.”)

As the circuit court recognized, the reference to the CMS schedules actually supports Dr. Jernigan’s position, in that “[t]he language in note 1 about a CMS schedule refers clearly and specifically to WRVU’s and requires that St. Francis update the WRVU values each year as they are revised by CMS,” thereby

demonstrating that “WRVU values, not payment modifiers, determine Dr. Jernigan’s compensation.” (R. p. 8)

Second, the parties’ longstanding course of dealing confirms that payment modifiers were never contemplated and never incorporated in the Agreement. *See* Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 223 (1981) (“[A] course of dealing between the parties gives meaning to or supplements or qualifies their agreement.”). For the first ten years after the Agreement was executed, St. Francis determined Dr. Jernigan’s compensation without applying payment modifiers. It simply looked to the WRVU values assigned by CMS and put those values in the agreed formula. During those same ten years – and indeed for fifteen years before the Employment Agreement was ever signed – payment modifiers existed in the CMS schedules and were affecting St. Francis’s payments from the federal government. Not until 2016, though, did St. Francis suddenly decide the modifiers should apply to Dr. Jernigan’s Agreement.

St. Francis also appears to make yet a third absurd argument that it had the ability to change the compensation terms of the Agreement because the Agreement requires Dr. Jernigan to “comply with St. Francis’s policies” and altering the compensation terms was simply a “policy change.” (*See* App. Br. at 3, 4-5 (“St. Francis regularly makes policy changes . . . for which physician consent is not required.”)) As the circuit court rightly recognized, however, “none of the provisions of the Agreement cited by St. Francis” as addressing its policies “have anything to do with Dr. Jernigan’s compensation.” (R. p. 7) Accepting St. Francis’s argument

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